

The Business Rationale for Greater Workforce Security: a literature review of practices that reduce or mitigate the impacts of insecure employment

Prepared by Stephanie Procyk & Ryan Maisonneuve

Contents

1.	Intro	ductionduction	1
2.	The \	Norkforce Security Business Case Framework	2
	2.1	Structure of the report	
3.	Research questions & Methodology		
	3.1	Research questions	
	3.2	Methodology	
4.	Defin	ning insecure employment	
5.	Key terms		
	5.1	Hiring and retention	
	5.2	Employee engagement, commitment and loyalty	
	5.3	Productivity	
	5.4	Business culture	
6.	Employer use of non-standard workers		
	6.1	How are employers gaining from insecure workers or practices?	
	6.2	Why are employers using insecure workers or practices?	
	6.3	What are the negative impacts that employers are experiencing due to	
	insec	cure workforces or practices?	8
7.		oyer practices	
	7.1	Compensation	
	7.2	Benefits in general	
		7.2.1 Paid leave	
	7.3	Predictability	. 16
		7.3.1 Encouraging worker-led flexibility	
		7.3.2 Improving predictability	
		7.3.3 Increasing stability	
	7.5	Inclusion	
		7.5.1 Inclusion in training and professional development	. 23
9.	Conc	:lusion	
11.		rences	
		otes	

1. Introduction

Employment security in Canada is undergoing significant transformations. ¹ The proportion of full-time permanent jobs with benefits have been declining, while insecure jobs such as contract, temporary or short-term jobs have been growing.² In fact, temporary work and self-employment with no employees (which is also called independent contract work) has grown by 60% in the past 25 years.³ Research shows that these non-standard jobs are having a harmful effect on individuals, children and families. For example, workers in insecure jobs have poorer mental health, have more difficulty keeping up with bills and debt obligations, and are less able to afford school supplies and clothing for their children.⁴ These workers also experience more barriers than their secure counterparts that prevent them from moving into better opportunities. ⁵ These labour market changes are not only harming individuals, they may also be harming the health and prosperity of Canadian businesses. There is growing evidence that these changes are negatively affecting the robustness of our economy and the ability of companies to compete globally. Businesses report that using insecure workers increases the risk of higher turnover, reduced performance, and reduced worker engagement.7

However, there are also businesses who have intentionally increased their workforce's employment security as a strategy for growth.8 These businesses include wholesale retailer Costco, cleaning services company Managed by Q, and contracting firm Belvedere Place Development Ltd., among others.9 As a result of these practices, these companies have lower turnover, a loyal workforce, and improved sales.10 What these examples illustrate is that with the right tools, businesses can make mutually beneficial choices that will both improve the security of their workforces and lead to business performance gains. The Workforce Security Case for Change project has sought to showcase these positive practices and help businesses understand how incremental practice changes that improve employment security can lead to gains for both workers and organizations.

This literature review was the first step in this project. It explores and synthesizes the literature on employer practices that improve employment security for workers while simultaneously contributing to positive business impacts. The goal of this literature review was to establish a foundation from which an assessment tool (called a maturity model), case studies, and a business case framework could be built to engage employers. Ideally, these tools will be used by employers to change their practices and, thereby, improve the wellbeing of their precarious or insecure workforce.

2. The Workforce Security Business Case Framework

The Workforce Security Business Case Framework project was rooted in the 2013-14 partnership between United Way Toronto & York Region and KPMG. This partnership involved research on employers' perspectives of insecure employment, which explored employer awareness of the issue and potential solutions through qualitative interviews and an employer roundtable. This report was published in 2014 and called *Precarious Employment: The Employers' Perspective*. Results of this engagement showed that the business community is both interested in the issue and willing to think creatively to develop solutions to improve worker security. Participants of the roundtable advocated for a business case to be developed, which could be modeled on the business case for diversity that was developed thirty years ago.

Since then, United Way and McMaster University published the second Poverty and Employment Precarity in Southern Ontario (PEPSO) report in 2015, called *The Precarity Penalty*, which reiterated the recommendation to build a Canadian business case for reducing the incidence, and mitigating the negative impacts, of insecure work.* Moving forward on this recommendation, United Way again engaged KPMG to develop a practical tool for employers to assess their current practices and understand how they can change these practices to improve worker security while also benefitting their organization's performance. These findings can be leveraged by businesses when developing their own businesses cases to support new or updated practices to increase worker security. This business case framework has been developed into a toolkit that is called the Better Business Outcomes Through Workforce Security report.¹²

2.1 Structure of the report

This report covers the drivers of insecure work, the gains and costs of insecure work arrangements for the employer, and the employer practices that can be implemented that will both lead to business performance gains and improvements in the experiences of non-standard workers. Whenever possible, peer-reviewed studies and examples of real business practices were used to inform the review.

The scope of this review is limited mostly to the private sector, in part because the private sector employs the vast majority of workers.¹³ The private sector was also

^{*} Another development was the Changing Workplaces Review, which published an interim report in Summer 2016 and a final report in May 2017. The Review made recommendations on updating legislative, regulatory and policy frameworks to address the changing world of work, with particular attention to the Employment Standards Act and the Labour Relations Act and has led to the introduction of Bill 148, the Fair Workplaces, Better Jobs Act. While Bill 148 is one way to influence the world of work, there is also a need to engage employers on this issue and aim to drive culture change above and beyond the floor of minimum standards proposed in the Employment Standards Act.

chosen as a focus area because there is a common broad goal of generating value, usually in the form of profit. However, there are important lessons that can still be applied to employers in other sectors such as the public and non-profit sectors as insecure work is present in all sectors. Through improved security for workers, organizations from all sectors can have a more engaged and productive workforce that helps achieve desired outcomes.

3. Research questions & Methodology

3.1 Research questions

The research questions were developed by the United Way-KPMG team. They are:

- 1. Which business practices reduce or mitigate insecurity for workers? (i.e. practices currently in use)
- 2. Which business practices have been recommended to reduce or mitigate insecurity for workers? (i.e. recommended practices that are not currently in use)
- 3. What benefits have accrued to employers based on these practices?
- 4. What costs have accrued to employers based on these practices?

3.2 Methodology

This report is the result of a review of over 250 articles from academia, the private sector, media, labour and the community sector. Business literature was mainly sourced through the Business Source Complete database through EBSCOhost and supplemented with the academic work of key academics such as Zeynep Ton (Massachusetts Institute of Technology) and Susan Lambert (University of Chicago). Media sources were primarily found through key word searches in major newspapers, as well as human resources (HR) and business trade publications located both in and out of Canada. Finally, grey literature was used by searching for key terms in the literature of think tanks, research institutes, and other similar entities.

4. Defining insecure employment

In this literature review, the term 'insecure employment' is used as a general term to denote non-standard forms of employment such as contract, temporary, or part-time work, which are also called precarious employment or contingent work. The PEPSO Employment Precarity Index, which was a key way that the PEPSO project defined who was in precarious employment, was used as a guide to highlight relevant business practices that impact those in insecure employment. The Employment Precarity Index is based on these ten components:

Getting paid if you miss a day's work

- Having one employer, who you expect to work for a year from now, who
 provides at least 30 hours of work a week, and who pays benefits
- Income variability in the past 12 months
- Likelihood that income will be reduced in the next 6 months
- Working on-call
- Knowing your work schedule at least one week in advance
- Being paid in cash
- Form of employment relationship (short-term, casual, etc.)
- Receiving employment benefits from your current employer
- Likelihood that current employment would be negatively affected if you raised a health and safety or employment rights concern.

5. Key terms

The literature on employer practices includes a set of key terms that can broadly be defined as positive business impacts. For the purposes of this report, we will focus on the following business impacts that can help to achieve desired business outcomes: hiring and retention, productivity, employee engagement, and business culture. Because these particular terms are not commonly used by all of the audiences of this literature review, their definition, impact on business performance and relevance to employment security will be covered below.

5.1 Hiring and retention

It is in the interests of businesses to attract and retain high performing workers to improve business performance as high performers contribute to innovation and can generate a competitive advantage. Higher retention also results in reduced worker turnover, and thus reduced costs associated with turnover. High turnover can therefore significantly decrease profit and impact the morale and wellbeing of remaining workers. Additionally, in the case of contingent workers, their tenure on assignment was found to be a consistent predictor of performance. 15

Although it may seem that the nature of insecure work practices mean that an employer does not want to keep a worker at the organization, this is not necessarily the case. Some employers may continually renew contracts and desire the same worker to stay at the organization, but have judged the costs and liabilities associated with making non-standard workers full-time and permanent to be prohibitive. Employers may also be negatively impacted by non-standard workers leaving for better offers. In addition, employers who are testing insecure workers for fit within the company will want higher performers to stay on for permanent openings.

5.2 Employee engagement, commitment and loyalty

Employee engagement, commitment and loyalty can be viewed as inputs to the output of productivity. High levels of employee engagement can lead to improved productivity, higher profit, and increased stakeholder returns. Importantly, low levels of employee engagement can actively harm companies as well.¹6 Towers Perrin found that businesses with high employee engagement experienced a 19% increase in operating income, and a 28% growth in earnings per share, while companies with low employee engagement experienced a 32% drop in operating income and an 11% drop in earnings per share.¹7 Kenexa also found that higher employee engagement was connected to higher annual net income and total shareholder return.¹8

Engagement relates to commitment, which is "a bond or linking of the individual to the organization." Workers' commitment to organizations impacts how satisfied they are and therefore how likely they are to behave in ways that will contribute to an organization's competitive advantage. For example, workers who are less satisfied and engaged are less likely to deliver high quality customer service. When workers are hired on a contract or temporary basis, it can be challenging to engage them or increase their commitment when they perceive a lack of employer commitment to them.

5.3 Productivity

Productivity is viewed as a fundamental building block to organizational performance and growth. It is, in essence, a measurement of how much output a business can achieve for a given level of input.²² Improving productivity may mean that a company has developed an innovative new process that enables workers to produce more goods, for example. Additionally, as noted in Section 5.2, improving employee engagement, commitment and loyalty can lead to improved productivity. Productivity is generally difficult to measure in relation to individual employer practices, because practices do not occur in isolation. (The same can be said of other business impacts as well.)

There is limited literature on productivity and non-standard work.²³ However, the literature does discuss the connection between productivity and individual employer practices that could support non-standard workers such as paid sick days or extended health benefits. These are covered in greater detail below.

5.4 Business culture

The concept of culture within an organization is not a term that is concrete or definitive and it does not have a widely agreed upon definition in the business community.²⁴ It broadly refers to the values of an organization. Cultural alignment is viewed as important because it creates a consistent business culture, where worker actions demonstrate the values of the business.²⁵ Business culture is an important consideration in the area of employment insecurity. When parts of the workforce are segregated through the colour of their uniforms or are segregated from meetings, events, professional development, and other business operations, it may be challenging for this part of the workforce to understand and replicate the business culture. In contrast, businesses that have successfully integrated non-standard workers have experienced performance gains as a result and have gained a competitive advantage over businesses who do not engage this part of their workforce.²⁶ Integrating temporary workers more closely to the vision of the organization can also translate into better customer service, as workers are better able to deliver on the businesses' promised experience.

6. Employer use of non-standard workers

6.1 How are employers gaining from insecure workers or practices?

Employers choose to create or maintain insecure jobs or practices because they perceive themselves to be gaining from these practices. These gains include:

- Flexibility in managing their workforces: Employers are able to stay flexible and nimble in managing their workforces in order to address challenges such as costs, the fast pace of change in the business environment and fluctuating demand.²⁷
- **Ease:** Companies are able to access an on-demand workforce, which has become increasingly easier due to technology.²⁸ For example, scheduling software that has the ability to more accurately predict labour demand is increasingly being used.²⁹
- Innovation: Some businesses perceive improvements in innovation as they are able to get a new and diverse pool of talent when needed.³⁰ This may be more likely with highly skilled workers.
- Ability to deliver on goals or services: Hiring contingent workers can help businesses deliver on goals or services more effectively and efficiently than could be done solely using internal staff.³¹ This is often due to companies ability to bring in people with specialized skill sets.
- Testing for fit: Managers sometimes use temporary contracts as a form of testing a worker for fit within the company.³²

In addition, the literature consistently emphasizes that employers use insecure workers to save costs.³³ Costs are saved because employers can pay lower wages and not pay for extended health or retirement benefits, severance pay, payroll costs, taxes, or the costs of recruiting, managing and sustaining employees.³⁴

6.2 Why are employers using insecure workers or practices?

The increasing use of insecure workers and insecure practices has been well documented, including in both PEPSO reports.³⁵ This issue was also addressed in the qualitative interviews conducted by KPMG in 2014. The literature covers a wide range of reasons as to why employers use insecure workers or practices:

- The market environment: Employers use insecure workers or practices to stay competitive³⁶ and in difficult economic times to financially sustain themselves.³⁷ During challenging economic times, employers can rely on people to continue to apply for these jobs because of a lack of availability of other jobs.³⁸
- Perceptions of worker desire: In certain industries and sectors, there is a perception that workers desire these jobs more so than standard employment relationships due to the potential of higher wages, the ability to try out jobs before committing, and the desire for worker choice, though these would likely apply mostly to more professional higher paying jobs.³⁹
- Capacity or desire to commit: Some businesses or business units within larger organizations may not be ready to hire full-time or permanent staff. This is sometimes due to budgetary limits in the number of full-time employees they can hire, which forces them to hire non-standard workers in order to stay within budget.⁴⁰ They may also not be able to commit to more full-time or permanent staff due to their stage of development.
- Demand for skills: Businesses may only need help around specific projects or skill-sets, and may even organize their entire business model around projectbased work.⁴¹ Temporary or contract workers can help businesses respond to unexpected or seasonal demand or unexpected business needs to meet an order or to accommodate inconsistent work flow.⁴²
- Protection from legal obligations: Some employers use insecure workers in order to protect their business from legal obligations, worker unionization, having to pay workers' compensation, and/or benefits.⁴³ In addition, the use of insecure workers can allow employers to more easily dismiss workers within the timeframe desired by the employer, without paying severance and without the fear of legal action for wrongful dismissal.⁴⁴

6.3 What are the negative impacts that employers are experiencing due to insecure workforces or practices?

There are risks associated with insecure workforces or practices that can impact desired business outcomes, and therefore threaten business performance. (These risks will be delineated in further detail below when they connect to particular employer practices). There may be risks for employers who use non-standard workers, such as:

- Lower productivity: As mentioned above (Section 5.3), there is limited literature on the connection between non-standard workers and productivity. However, one recent longitudinal study of Canadian companies found that increased proportions of part-time or temporary workers was associated with decreased productivity and profitability.⁴⁵ One reason may be that these workers often have to take on second jobs or have to search for employment, which leads to fatigue and lower productivity.⁴⁶ Productivity requires workers to have enough time on the job to 'learn the ropes' and non-standard work tends to be associated with shorter tenure. In addition, temporary agencies may help sell their services by noting that they are able to perform the oversight needed for worker productivity, but in practice this is difficult for them to fulfill.⁴⁷ Additionally, when worker health decreases, this can impact productivity. There is mixed evidence on the impact of insecure employment and worker health, due in part to how insecurity is defined. However, there is some evidence that insecure work practices can negatively impact people's mental and physical health, as well as increase injuries and even fatalities.⁴⁸
- Conflicts of interest: At times, workers may be employed by multiple competing companies at once. In these cases, companies may run the risk of workers sharing information with competitors or workers experiencing other conflicts of interest between companies.⁴⁹
- Increased complexity in management: Insecure workforces can be complex to manage and require substantial improvements in the area of strategic workforce planning in order to be managed effectively. For example, HR has to work with line managers to assess which kind of non-standard worker is required and for how long. Workforce management can be particularly challenging for organizations that are more oriented towards projects, as they often do not have a formal human resources management function. Organizations also have to manage legal issues such as classification of employees versus non-employees.
- Less trained workforce: If employers are not training workers and there is a dearth of other places for workers to be trained, employers may not have access to workers with the needed skillsets.⁵³ Evidence shows that contract workers are often not trained enough during 'onboarding.'⁵⁴ This lack of investment can lead to operational problems and can lessen the likelihood that insecure workers will contribute to innovation.⁵⁵
- **Lower morale:** When wage or benefit cuts occur in a smaller workplace, there can be negative impacts on morale, productivity, and even profit.⁵⁶ There can

- also be negative feelings when non-permanent workers are compensated differently from permanent staff.⁵⁷ Workers who are paid low wages and who have poor working conditions are unlikely to be happy and this dissatisfaction can translate to poorer interactions with customers and ultimately into lower productivity.⁵⁸
- Higher turnover: It can be more challenging to retain workers in jobs for the full length of time desired by businesses when employers do not invest in their workers.⁵⁹ When people are moving in and out of a company, it is difficult to maintain and build a company culture as well as build a consistent culture between permanent and contract staff.⁶⁰
- **Higher costs**: Although many employers view cost savings as a key driver for hiring non-standard workers, costs can actually be higher for non-standard workers than standard workers.⁶¹ For example, higher wages for specialized non-standard workers and payments to staffing agencies are some of the direct costs involved.⁶² There are also indirect costs such as the cost of increased oversight needed to compensate for low rates of training, the cost of fixing errors, the costs of higher turnover, and the costs of replacing and training new workers.⁶³

7. Employer practices

There are businesses who are undertaking actions to create more security in their workforce. Some of these businesses may be taking this step to intentionally create security, while others may be doing so to improve their business performance or for other reasons. It is important to note that insecure and secure employer practices may co-exist within one organization, just as standard and non-standard workers do.

The intent of this section is to denote the range of employer practices available to employers that will increase workforce security and improve their business performance. In cases where the business has decided to still use non-standard work arrangements, the security of workers can still be increased to improve outcomes for workers and businesses through practice changes. Most of the literature regarded the gains for business resulting from these practices in general. Only a limited range focused on these employer practices as a way to improve the experiences of contract, temporary, or part-time staff. Where possible, innovative practices and individual businesses are highlighted.

In most cases, the literature did not delineate a causal relationship between the employer practice and the business gain, nor did most literature describe in detail how these two pieces may be related. For example, employee benefits are often noted as a factor that increases productivity, but the literature often did not detail how benefits increase productivity. However, the first large-scale empirical study on the effect of contingent employment use on business performance found evidence that the use of contingent workers can impact organizational performance, though it depends on the conditions of how these workers are used and for what purposes.⁶⁴

While the gains of the following practices were outlined in the reviewed literature, costs were infrequently assessed. These employer practices may cost businesses money, time, and resources, depending on the chosen practice as well as how it is implemented. In all, there will likely be trade-offs that employers will have to make to implement these practices, which will require the careful consideration of each organization. Organizations considering implementing these practices will have to weigh the costs and benefits of each practice in their own context.

7.1 Compensation

Total compensation includes both wages and benefits such as extended health benefits, retirement benefits, and childcare benefits. One of the key challenges highlighted by PEPSO research in regard to compensation was that those in precarious employment not only earned lower wages, they were less likely to have benefits as well.⁶⁶ Increasing the wages of those in non-standard employment is an important employer practice in and of itself. For example, employers could explore the potential of becoming living wage employers. Living wage employers pay their workers wages that could cover the basics in their local area.⁶⁷ The living wage has in turn been found to be associated with decreased turnover, improved productivity, and lower absenteeism.⁶⁸ Aside from paying the living wage, there are innovative ways of improving wages through employer practices such as 'precarity pay.' These are covered in the benefits sections below.

7.2 Benefits in general

<u>Challenge</u>

The Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) considers a benefit to be "a good or service you give, or arrange for a third party to give, to your employee such as free use of property that you own. A benefit includes an allowance or a reimbursement of an employee's personal expense."⁶⁹ Benefits, according to the CRA, include health benefits, disability, child care, Registered Retirement Savings Plans (RRSPs) and other supports.⁷⁰ Depending on the benefit, an employer may be required to pay payroll taxes and to contribute to the Canada Pension Plan (CPP), which means that a worker would be defined as an employee.⁷¹ Therefore, some employers do not offer benefits to non-standard workers, as they perceive that offering benefits could result in non-standard workers being classified as employees.⁷²

As a result, workers in non-standard jobs have significantly less access to benefits. PEPSO found that only 8% of those in precarious employment had an employer-sponsored benefit plan, compared with 100% of those in secure employment.⁷³ This pattern was similar for employer-provided pensions as well, with 12% of those in precarious employment having access to pensions, compared to 85% of those in

secure employment. These findings are supported by the business literature. The Conference Board of Canada's survey of medium and large employers found that full-time employees had almost universal benefits coverage and that part-time employees who worked a minimum of 20 hours per week were commonly covered.⁷⁴ In contrast, only 6% of employers reported that they provided full benefits to their contingent (contract, term, casual or seasonal) workers, though 52% reported that they provided some benefits to their contingent workers.⁷⁵ †

Promising employer practices

Despite the low rate of benefit provision for non-standard workers, many employers who employ non-standard workers do see the value in providing benefits for this workforce. In a 2016 American survey of 800 employers, 54% of employers of contingent workers agreed that these workers should be given more benefits as part of their job.⁷⁶

Practices related to the provision of benefits for workers in non-standard arrangements vary and can include full-time employee coverage, partial coverage, coverage given a minimum threshold of hours worked or a minimum length of time worked. More specific practices include:

- Increasing wages in lieu of benefits: Wages are sometimes increased in lieu of benefits. In some cases, employers have noted that contractors prefer higher wages in lieu of benefits.^{77‡} However, this is more often practiced with higher earners, though low earners could also gain from this practice.
- Lowering qualifying thresholds: Generally, a worker has to qualify for benefits by a threshold of tenure or hours per week. Lowering either of these thresholds can lead to more non-standard workers being included in the benefits plan that is generally reserved for full-time staff.⁷⁸ The delivery company UPS, for example, offers full-time benefits for their part-time workforce.⁷⁹ In addition, Canadian Staffing Services company Aerotek offers extended health benefits for their contract and temporary workforce who work more than 32 hours per week.⁸⁰ Finally, the retail company Lands End offers extended benefits for the full year to seasonal employees who commit to working the following year during peak holiday times.⁸¹
- Developing a 'benefit bank': Several authors have recommended that employers develop and use benefit banks, which give employers or workers an opportunity to purchase benefits.⁸²
- Creating a benefit fund: Another recommendation has been made for employers to create a benefit fund for health coverage payment, from which workers could draw.⁸³

[†] Partial benefits may include one type of benefit, such as pensions, but not others such as extended health.

[‡] In Australia, this practice is legislated for minimum workers and is referred to as 'precarity pay'.

• **Providing back-up child care:** Childcare is not often the first support that comes to mind when people think of benefit packages, but backup childcare can be very beneficial to non-standard workers whose schedules are irregular. One employer that began offering backup childcare as a benefit for employees is Chase Manhattan.⁸⁴ They found this benefit to have a 115% return on investment, which saved 6,900 work days in one year.

Strategies for successful implementation

In order to extend benefits to non-standard workers, either in full or in part, while also contributing to organizational growth, researchers have recommended that businesses be strategic in their planning.⁸⁵ Batt notes, "To reap the long-term payoff of offering benefits, despite the short-term cost, employers have treated the benefits package as fixed and adjust their business goals, strategies and other variable costs to accommodate benefits".⁸⁶ It also helps to show people their total compensation (wages and benefits) as people's perceptions of their benefits packages can impact positive business outcomes.⁸⁷

Gains for business

A broad range of literature notes the substantial gains for business in offering benefits to their workers. Benefits are viewed as a key way for employers to differentiate themselves as 'employers of choice' and to attract and retain high-performing workers. Remote 80% of employers in one study agreed that benefits are a critical component to attracting and retaining high quality employees. Revidenced by worker opinions as well. In one Canadian healthcare survey, 77% of those who had benefits stated that they would not move to another job without benefits. Renefits are also associated with improved productivity, worker satisfaction, happiness and loyalty. In addition, as evidenced by the employer examples under promising practices, benefits can also yield financial gains for companies even after accounting for their cost.

Costs to business

The costs of providing benefits include the financial costs themselves, as well as the time and resources needed to manage benefits. The Conference Board of Canada estimates the cost of providing benefits per full-time employee to be an average of \$8,330, as of 2015.⁹³ This is only a partial estimate of costs as this does not include paid time off, wellness program costs, contributions to pensions, or the time and resources it takes to manage benefits.⁹⁴ It is difficult to provide a more accurate cost of benefits for non-standard workers, as the plans could vary significantly, depending on what the employer chooses to extend to their non-standard workforce.

7.2.1 Paid leave

Challenge

Leave benefits are another type of benefit to which non-standard workers have significantly less access. PEPSO found that only 12% of those in precarious employment were paid if they missed a day's work, while 100% of those in secure employment were. This is echoed by an American survey of employers that found that 80% of employers offered paid vacation to their full-time employees, while only 13% offered this to their independent contractors. Access to leave plays an important role in helping workers to establish a work-life balance. Not having access to paid time off can compromise a household's ability to cope with unanticipated events such as illness. This contributes to the higher levels of stress and anxiety reported in PEPSO research.

In Ontario, the *Employment Standards Act* gives workers the right to unpaid leave such as pregnancy and parental leave, family medical leave, and personal emergency leave (which covers illness). Temporary agency workers also have the right to some forms of public holidays and public holiday pay. However, many non-standard workers are not covered by Employment Standards, because these standards do not cover independent contractors. In addition, personal emergency leave is only mandated for workplaces with 50 or more employees, which leaves 1.7 million workers in Ontario without access to this leave.

Providing *paid* personal emergency leave days is up to the discretion of the individual employer, though the proposed Bill 148, *Fair Workplaces, Better Jobs Act, 2017*, has introduced two paid leave days per year for employees. Employees do have a right to 4% of wages earned for vacation time under the *Employment Standards Act*, though again, this act excludes many non-standard workers.¹⁰¹

Promising employer practices

Employers in the United States have been increasingly legislated to provide leave benefits such as paid sick leave days to their contingent workforce and Bill 148 has proposed two sick days for all employees, which would still omit independent contractors. The literature addressed a few innovative practices that are recommended for or are in use by employers regarding the provision of paid leave for non-standard workers. These include:

- Increasing wages in lieu of leave benefits: Workers could be compensated in lieu of leave benefits, which would help ease the burden of any missed work time. ¹⁰³ For example, the fast-food restaurant El Fuego provides a half day of wages for workers who are unable to come in due to illness. ¹⁰⁴ These days are not capped. ¹⁰⁵
- Increasing flexible time policies: Improving flexible time policies (which are listed in section 7.3.1), can allow people to balance work and life when they cannot access a full paid day off. One example of this is incremental leave. Allowing workers to take vacation or sick time in small increments could help workers avoid taking the full day off when they only need a small amount of time for an appointment or an urgent matter. Vorkers could make up for this time by working a few hours within the pay period. This allows organizations to avoid the impact of having to find coverage for a worker.
- Creating a central benefit fund: Similar to the previous recommendation for a benefit fund in Section 7.2, a benefit fund could be created to which employers would contribute sick and vacation pay for use by their non-standard workforce.¹⁰⁹

Strategies for successful implementation

Employers who provided paid sick days to most or all of their workforce offered some strategic solutions for businesses to ensure that organizational needs are still met. Options included assigning work to other workers, allowing workers to swap shifts or simply putting work on hold.¹¹⁰ Some have recommended that employers not lump different forms of leave together, as workers will be less likely to take sick days if it limits their vacation time.¹¹¹

Gains for business

The gains for business that result from paid leave benefits are similar to the gains that were listed in the previous section on benefits in general. Most of the literature on these gains were in reference to the provision of paid sick leave benefits.

Gains for business include:

- Attracting and retaining high quality workers: Having leave benefits can
 contribute to the retention and attraction of dedicated workers, which can also
 reduce turnover.¹¹² One staffing company even noted that providing sick days
 for non-standard workers could attract more standard workers to the nonstandard workforce.¹¹³
- Increased productivity: It is difficult to prove a causal relationship between paid leave and productivity.§ However, when sick workers come to work and infect other workers, this decreases productivity at a business because fewer workers are available. Paid sick days can therefore contribute to less overall absenteeism as illness will be limited in its spread.¹¹⁴ For example, one Cornell University study found that flu rates decreased by a minimum of 10% when workers gained access to paid sick days.¹¹⁵
- Improved worker engagement: Paid leave can improve morale, motivation, and loyalty— all of which contribute to an engaged and productive workforce.¹¹⁶ This was particularly noted of paid vacation days.¹¹⁷

The gains for business of paid vacation were underlined in a 2013 study conducted by the Society for Human Resource Management, which noted that "More than two-thirds of HR professionals agree or strongly agree that if these employees [who take less vacation] started taking more vacation, they would experience higher levels of job satisfaction (74%), be more productive (72%), perform better (69%) and be more engaged at work (67%)."¹¹⁸

Costs for business

There is limited literature on the cost of providing leave. A study on the introduction of mandatory paid sick leave in Connecticut noted that there was minimal or modest monetary cost increases for employers, though the vast majority of employers (89%) were already providing five paid sick leave days or more to their employees. Another qualitative study of 33 American employers found that employers reported that paid sick days did not impact their profit. A key reason for this is that employers with overall good practices seem to build trust and engagement with their workforce, which may contribute to workers not using these days more than necessary. Sick days may involve short-term costs.

[§] For example, in Pichler & Zeibarth, 2016, the authors note, "To our knowledge, there exists no credible empirical causal evidence on how work productivity changes when employees gain access to paid sick leave."

7.4 Predictability

Challenge

Standard workers are much more likely to work predictable, regular, and consistent hours than insecure workers.¹²² This may involve having the same schedule every week or having sufficient advance notice of hours in order to be able to plan one's week.

Those workers in non-standard jobs are much less likely to enjoy this stability and predictability. Workers in precarious employment are significantly more likely to experience irregular work schedules than those in secure employment. PEPSO research found that almost 25% of those in precarious employment had a work schedule that often changes unexpectedly compared to only 3% of those in secure employment. In addition, almost half of workers in precarious employment did not know their schedules one week in advance. Not having control over their schedules could be a major source of stress for these workers.

Some employers have been publicly recognizing the negative impacts of irregular and/or unpredictable schedules for their workers. A high profile news article on coffee retailer Starbucks' scheduling practices in 2014 led to the company committing to make swift changes to improve scheduling stability. Loblaws and the union that represents many of its workers—the United Food and Commercial Workers—also introduced a pilot program to improve scheduling and predictability for their part-time workers, in recognition that this could improve outcomes for both workers and the business. 127

These challenges surrounding hours and predictability can be addressed through three sets of distinct, though at times overlapping, promising practices:

- Improving predictability: Scheduling practices entail improving the predictability of schedules. Employers still control the schedule, but workers can better plan their time with these practices.
- **Encouraging worker-led flexibility:** Worker-led flexibility practices are about shifting more control over hours worked from the company to the worker.
- Increasing stability: These are practices that are ways to increase the number
 of hours workers can access through practices such as sharing workers between
 companies or departments.

7.4.1 Encouraging worker-led flexibility

Promising employer practice

The term 'flexibility' has multiple meanings when used in relation to workers. For example, one person's definition of precarious employment could be another person's definition of flexible employment. In this case, flexible working time is being used to

describe the degree of flexibility in relation to workers' desires.¹²⁸ Examples of flexible work practices include:

- Working compressed hours: This involves allowing workers to work longer hours for fewer days. 129 For example, working a full-time work week over the course of three or four days.
- Teleworking or telecommuting: Telework involves a worker not needing to come into the office to work, and instead working from home or elsewhere while being connected via computer and phone.¹³⁰ After Aetna began allowing workers to work from home, they subsequently saw a 30% increase in claims processed.¹³¹ Similarly, after American Express introduced telecommuting as an option, they had a \$40 million increase in sales productivity.¹³²
- **Using flextime**: Flextime is the practice of giving workers the opportunity to work outside standard work hours for the business.¹³³ For example, a worker could choose to work nights or weekends instead of 9-5.
- Enabling flexible start and end times: One variant of flextime is allowing workers to have flexible start and end times. A worker in this case could choose when they begin and end their day, so long as they work the agreed upon hours.¹³⁴

Strategies for successful implementation

The literature notes some foundations for success that enable flexible work practices to occur. They include ensuring that:

- Technology is used: Research recommends that employers use technology to enable the management of flexible schedules, which can include documenting any trading off of time or shifts through online staff calendars, posting schedules in the office space, or using more sophisticated computer systems.¹³⁵
- Flexibility policies are widespread: Flexible time options will not have the desired effect if they are only available to certain individuals. Instead, they should be available to the workforce in general.¹³⁶
- Policies are business-driven: These policies have to be business-driven, in order to benefit the company, as opposed to being just driven by worker desires alone.¹³⁷
- Trade-offs are mutual: Workers and employers should both trade off flexibility and sacrifice to some extent. For example, engineering firm Metal Assemblies asks its workers to be flexible in responding to changing demand, and in turn asks its managers to be flexible with their workers' work-life balance needs. This requires trust between workers and employers. 139
- Investing in good management: In order to be successful, flextime requires good management. This is a strategy that is echoed in many employer practices in this review: success requires planning and good management.

Gains for business

In addition to the clear financial gains noted by the companies above, there are other gains for business that are associated with worker-led flexibility. These include:

- Recruitment from a wider labour pool: Flexibility can be used to access a
 wider pool of labour who may not be able to work standard hours, but who are
 committed to their profession.¹⁴¹ In addition, in more competitive markets,
 younger workers choose employers with flexible hours and view them as
 'employers of choice.'¹⁴²
- **Higher retention and lower turnover:** Flexibility allows high performers and those with other commitments to continue working for a business.¹⁴³ One study noted that, "More than 80% of managers and employees say flexibility is important to recruitment and retention, and almost a quarter of employees using flexibility options would leave the company if they did not have the opportunity to work flexibly."¹⁴⁴
- Financial gains: Worker-led flexibility can sometimes lead to cost savings from reductions in payment of overtime. This may be due in part to workers with unpredictable schedules being called in at the last minute to work an overtime shift.
- Improved productivity: Businesses who implemented flex time policies reported improved productivity. This may be due to the connection between flexibility and higher worker engagement and commitment. 148
- **Ability to meet fluctuating demand**: Flextime allows employers to meet fluctuating demand.¹⁴⁹
- Improved operations: Compressed schedules were noted to provide more staff continuity and consistency and reduce unscheduled absences.¹⁵⁰ In addition, flexibility in general is associated with improved customer service.¹⁵¹

Costs to business

There is limited content in the literature regarding the costs to business of these particular flexibility policies. However, the literature notes that in situations in which the relationships with a customer are of importance, customer loyalty can be damaged if customers are unable to develop relationships with the same workers.¹⁵² In addition, it can take up manager time when managers have to use their time to accommodate flexible schedules.¹⁵³

7.4.2 Improving predictability

Promising employer practices

Predictability practices cover the range of supports that employers can enhance in order to make working schedules more consistent, predictable and stable. These practices can include:

- Advance notice of scheduling: In this case, workers would receive advance notice of their scheduling, and ideally changes to this advanced notice would be minimal.¹⁵⁴ For example, Costco and IKEA's Savannah Distribution Center both give three weeks' advanced notice prior to all shifts.¹⁵⁵
- Consistent scheduling: Consistent scheduling on certain times or days could decrease the degree of scheduling variability that a worker experiences.¹⁵⁶
- Worker input: This practice is about involving workers in scheduling in order to accommodate their preferences.¹⁵⁷ This can include worker input into start and end times, working particular shifts, working overtime or extra hours, or taking breaks at particular times.¹⁵⁸
- Worker control over scheduling: This option entails workers negotiating elements of their schedule through practices such as self-scheduling or through swapping shifts with one another so that a manager does not need to negotiate this.¹⁵⁹ This can include offering computerized self-scheduling. Just as technology enables companies to schedule workers, it also offers workers the opportunity to self-schedule.¹⁶⁰ Companies that already use computerized self-scheduling include JetBlue, J.C. Penney, and Kraft Foods.¹⁶¹

Strategies for successful implementation

Strategies that enable implementation include establishing systems to enable predictable scheduling practices such as instituting formal processes for consideration of requests from workers, training managers on how to deal with schedule requests and training workers on how to negotiate schedules.¹⁶²

Gains for business

Business gains from improving predictability are similar to the business gains for worker-led flexibility. These practices are associated with improved recruitment and retention, morale, worker engagement, productivity and financial gains.¹⁶³

Costs to business

The literature does not cover the costs associated with these practices though one can assume that an organization could incur short-term costs of manager time in planning and maintaining these practices as well as some financial costs.

7.4.3 Increasing stability

Promising employer practices

A third way to address the challenge of irregular hours is to increase the number of hours that workers can work through approaches such as:

• **Pooling or sharing workers in-house:** One strategy that has been successfully used for almost a century by large organizations is pooling or sharing workers

in-house.¹⁶⁴ This may involve pooling workers within one or multiple business locations of the same business.¹⁶⁵ "A pool consists of a group of contingent workers who are ready and willing to work on a variety of limited-duration assignments on an on-going basis".¹⁶⁶ In essence, either the business itself or a third party partner acts as an internal staffing agency for the business' non-standard workforce. R.H. Macy and Company pooled their contingent staff as far back as 1926, while other large companies such as Mary Kay Cosmetics, AT&T and Comerica have also used internal pooling.¹⁶⁷

- Pooling or sharing workers externally: In a similar and complementary vein, businesses can pool or share their workers with other companies to enable workers to go where the demand is highest.¹⁶⁸ This would require agreements or shared understandings between the organizations involved.
- Guaranteed minimum hours or shifts: Guaranteeing minimum hours or shifts can increase stability for workers who work irregular hours. 169 For example, Cooperative Home Care Associates—a homecare staffing agency—has been able to guarantee 30 hours of work for many workers without negatively impacting their business performance. 170
- Using operations policies to enable stability: The literature describes how different businesses use operations policies to smooth demand.¹⁷¹ One way of doing this is to use a system of reservations or appointments like in the case of restaurants or doctor's offices.¹⁷² Another way to smooth demand is to crosstrain workers to be able to work in the area of the business with surging demand when necessary.¹⁷³

Strategies for successful implementation

Pooling workers requires resources, planning, and support and is likely to be most effective in large organizations.¹⁷⁴ However, smaller firms could develop deals with third party providers like a workforce intermediary or larger firms to participate in workforce pooling.¹⁷⁵ In order for minimum hour guarantees to succeed, it has been noted that a trade-off is often in place where workers give up some flexibility to get these minimum hours.¹⁷⁶ For example, at the homecare staffing agency CHCA, workers and employers both have to compromise: workers get minimum hours, but they also have to be available to work on call every other weekend.¹⁷⁷

Gains for business

- More skilled workers: Workers are cross-trained, which lessens the need to hire more temporary or contract workers when demand surges. This also eases the process of hiring for permanent positions from the non-standard workforce, because there is a ready pool of trained workers that are well known to the employer.
- Avoid productivity declines: When workers approach the end of their tenure for an assignment, productivity has been shown to decline.¹⁷⁹ By providing ongoing assignments, employers can avoid these productivity declines.¹⁸⁰

• Improved innovation: Pooling workers between firms can increase innovation and creativity as workers are able to bring new knowledge, experiences, and skills into businesses.¹⁸¹

Costs to business

This is another area that is not covered in depth in the literature. However, it requires resources, knowledge, and a commitment to a new way of operating to begin using some of these practices such as pooling workers. It may be resource intensive at the beginning, while organizations figure out how to implement these ideas.

7.5 Inclusion

Challenge

Standard and non-standard parts of the workforce often coexist within one organization. However, many practices exclude the non-standard workforce. This is in part because in some businesses, Human Resources manage the standard workforce, while procurement or another area of the organization manages the non-standard workforce. This also may be because employers are counseled to exclude non-standard workers from certain business activities to ensure that they will not be classified as employees under CRA rules.

Non-standard workers tend to be more socially isolated within and outside of work. For example, both middle income and low income insecure workers were almost twice as likely to report that they did not have a friend at work they could ask a favour of, compared to their more secure counterparts.¹⁸³ Inclusion can enable workers to develop better professional networks and to be less socially isolated.

During the 2014 KPMG project, inclusion was seen as an important way for businesses to extend positive employer practices to their contract and temporary staff.¹⁸⁴ While this has many potential benefits, there is little written in the literature about inclusion's benefits on business performance.

Promising employer practices

There are a range of activities in which non-standard workers can be included. The Conference Board recommends that businesses include them in their strategic business planning efforts, which may be a good first step toward other forms of inclusion.¹⁸⁵ Other recommended employer practices are:

• Making inclusion part of business culture: One option is to create a corporate culture that engages and includes the full workforce. ¹⁸⁶ In one U.S. government agency, the importance of these workers was continually stressed to the whole organization. Along with special orientation sessions and the elimination of

- subtle status differences between temporary and permanent workers, a business culture was developed that valued the input of temporary workers.¹⁸⁷ Polaroid also developed a culture of inclusion by treating temporary and permanent workers the same, rewarding temporary workers for performance that was equal or better than that of permanent workers.¹⁸⁸
- Applying clear definitions: Non-standard workers may err on the side of caution and not attend meetings that they could attend. Defining which meetings and work-related activities staff who are not permanent full-time are permitted to attend could help clarify this.¹⁸⁹
- Including workers in communication: Integrating contingent workers into all communication about projects and work-related communications is another option that would increase inclusion.¹⁹⁰
- Including workers in planning efforts: One employer practice that has been encouraged for the purposes of improving flexibility is also applicable for inclusion. Watson & Swanberg discuss the importance of teams working together to set performance objectives and then scheduling to meet these objectives.¹⁹¹ Including non-standard workers in this process could increase engagement.
- Including workers in business activities: This may entail including workers in performance management systems, career planning, discounts, or other perks and inviting them to plan these activities as well.¹⁹²

Gains for business

There is limited literature on the gains for business associated with inclusion practices. However, it was noted that inclusion can lead to increased retention of non-standard workers as well as improve the possibilities that a non-standard worker would take a permanent job at the business if offered.¹⁹³

Costs for business

The literature does not discuss the costs for business of inclusion, though in theory, costs could include financial expenditures and manager time associated with involvement of non-standard workers in organizational activities.

7.5.2 Inclusion in training and professional development

Challenge

The purpose of training is to improve a worker's skills, which can enable people to improve their career prospects or prepare them for new jobs. ¹⁹⁴ Training and professional development may include onboarding as well as ongoing professional development. Those in non-standard jobs often have much less access to training. PEPSO research found that those in secure employment are almost 40% more likely to receive employment-related training than those in precarious employment. ¹⁹⁵ This is in part because there is a common perception that non-standard workers already have the skills that are needed for the job they were hired for. ¹⁹⁶ In addition, there is a common perception that is validated by some research that businesses may not be able to get a return on their investment into these workers' training when workers are with a company for a short duration. ¹⁹⁷ As a result, workers in insecure employment are more likely to have to pay for training opportunities themselves and are less likely to have access to training paid for by the employer. ¹⁹⁸

Yet, trained workers can better contribute to an organization's performance and its competitive advantage.¹⁹⁹ In addition, trained workers may be with the organization for a short tenure, but they may also be eligible candidates for permanent positions within the company, may return in the future, and/or may refer friends to the company.²⁰⁰

Promising employer practices

- Cross-training workers: Cross-training workers is both an important employer practice in and of itself as well as a practice that enables other practices such as pooling workers and worker-led flexibility to occur. Cross-training involves training workers to be able to fill in for multiple jobs.²⁰¹ For example, a front desk worker could be cross-trained to work as a server. Cross-training enables workers to respond to fluctuating demand levels of business, as discussed in Section 7.3.3 on increasing stability.²⁰²
- Partial inclusion in training: Partial inclusion refers to training non-standard workers on a limited range of tasks or developing a mini version of the training received by permanent staff that is more applicable to non-standard workers.²⁰³
- **Promotion from within the organization**: As mentioned above, employers sometimes hire workers for non-standard positions in order to test them for fit. Focusing permanent hiring efforts on this part of the workforce and developing clear and simple paths to permanent jobs can add value to an organization.²⁰⁴

Strategies for successful implementation

In the example of training, the literature did not capture strategies for successful implementation outside of the content that is already listed under promising employer practices.

Gains for business

Workers can perceive employers to be more loyal and committed to them when they are able to access training, which improves their dedication and commitment to employers, improves retention, and lowers turnover.²⁰⁵ In addition, lower turnover rates have been found for businesses that promote from within.²⁰⁶

Costs to business

Training costs money, and it may cost more than a business can recoup during the tenure of the worker. In these cases, it may be appropriate to provide the scaled down versions of training mentioned in the employer practices section above, or for businesses to take a longer-term view toward participation in training the workforce.

8. Conclusion

This literature review was used to inform the publication of the Better Business Outcomes Through Workforce Security: A Business Case Framework report in July 2017.²⁰⁷ The Better Business Outcomes report provides a business case framework for why employers should invest in their workforces, a series of case studies from employers engaging in promising practices, and an assessment tool called a maturity model, which helps employers make incremental changes to their practices.

As the proportion of our workforce that is non-standard or insecure continues to grow, it will be important for us to think constructively about how to leverage this growth to improve outcomes for both workers and businesses. It is clear from the business literature highlighted in this review that many businesses are already leveraging this growth and are seeing better business outcomes as a result.

10. References

Aerotek (2016). Benefits and Job Safety. Aerotek. https://www.aerotek.com/en-ca/jobseekers/tools-resources/health-benefits

Alexander, C. & Fong, F. (2014, November 24). The case for leaning against income inequality in Canada. TD Economics: Special Report. https://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/special/income_inequality.pdf

Allan, P., & Sienko, S. (1997). A comparison of contingent and core workers' perceptions of their jobs' characteristics and motivational properties. SAM Advanced Management Journal, 62,4-9.

Applebaum, E., Milkman, R., Elliott, L. & Kroeger, T. (2014). Good for business? Connecticut's paid sick leave law. New York, NY: Centre for Economic and Policy Research, The Murphy Institute & The City University of New York.

Arthurs, H. (2006). Fairness at work: Federal Labour Standards for the 21st Century. Federal Labour Standards Review.

Attfield, P. (2015). Are health and wellness plans the new pension? *The Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/international-business/are-health-and-wellness-plans-the-new-pension/article27287366/

Axel, H. (1995). Contingent employment. HR Executive Review, 3 (2), 1-15.

Beaton, E. (2012, October 1). Different Dirt (W100 Profile). PROFITguide.com. http://www.profitguide.com/manage-grow/strategy-operations/different-dirt-w100-profile-41320

Becker, K. & Smidt, M. (2014). Workforce-related risks in projects with a contingent workforce. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33, 889-900.

Ben-Ishai, L. (2014). Tackling unstable and unpredictable work schedules. CLASP, Retail Action Project & Women Employed.

Ben-Ishai, L. (2015). Job schedules that work for businesses. CLASP.

Benz, J. (2009, Fall). The benefits of benefits. The Conference Board Review.

Bernier, J., Vallee, G. & Jobin, C. (2003). Chapter 7: Recommendations. In Social Protection for Nonstandard Workers Outside the Employment Relationship. Montreal, QC: Minister of Labour. (Translation of original French report)

Bloomberg Bureau of National Affairs (2016, January). The gig economy: HR's role in navigating the ondemand workforce. Workforce Strategies: Vol. 34, No. 1. Bloomberg Bureau of National Affairs.

Burson-Marsteller, Markle, The Aspen Institute and Time (2016). The Workforce of the Future Survey. http://www.burson-marsteller.com/the-workforce-of-the-future-survey/

buying Team (2011). Outsourcing: debunking the myths and unveiling the realities. The European

Business Review. http://www.europeanbusinessreview.com/outsourcing-debunking-the-myths-and-unveiling-the-realities/

Canada Revenue Agency (2015). Employers' Guide – Taxable Benefits and Allowances. http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/E/pub/tg/t4130/t4130-e.html#p800 662

Capperella, J. (2011). Adapting to the permanent temporary workforce. American Management Association. MWorld, Winter 2011-2012.

Carrick, R. (2014, November 19). Temporary work and no benefits: the growing workplace chasm. *The Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/globe-investor/personal-finance/household-finances/a-bigger-problem-for-young-contract-workers-is-health-care/article21658655/

Cascio, W. (2006, December). The high cost of low wages. *The Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2006/12/the-high-cost-of-low-wages

CERS (2012). The surprising pricetag of employee turnover (you're spending .5 to 5x the employee's annual wage. CERS. https://www.cersnow.com/blog/employee-retention/the-surprising-price-tag-of-employee-turnover-youre-spending-5-to-5x-the-employees-annual-wage/

Chan, S. (2015, June 23). When 'moonlighting' conflicts with your day job. *The Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/careers/career-advice/when-moonlighting-conflicts-with-your-day-job/article25078463/

Chambel, M.J. & Sobral, F. (2011). Training is an investment with return in temporary workers: a social exchange perspective. Career Development International, 16 (2), 161-177.

City of Toronto (2015). Toronto Employment Survey 2015. City of Toronto. http://www1.toronto.ca/City%20Of%20Toronto/City%20Planning/SIPA/Files/pdf/T/2015-Employment-Bulletin%20FINAL-accessible.pdf

Cohen, A. (2003). Multiple commitments in the workplace. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

Community Foundations of Canada (2016). Workplaces that work: flexible work arrangements. Community Foundations of Canada. http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/workplaces-flexible.cfm

The Conference Board of Canada (2012). Providing employee benefits continues to be a significant cost for employers. The Conference Board of Canada. http://www.conferenceboard.ca/press/newsrelease/15-11-

09/providing employee benefits continues to be a significant cost for employers.aspx

Cukier, A. (2015, September 1). The benefits and challenges of going it alone. *The Globe and Mail.* http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/careers/career-advice/when-freelance-pays-off/article26181321/

Darr, R. & Koller, T. (2017, January). How to build an alliance against corporate short-termism. McKinsey & Company. http://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/strategy-and-corporate-finance/our-insights/how-to-build-an-alliance-against-corporate-short-termism

Davidson, A. (2016, February 25). Managed by Q's 'Good Jobs' Gamble. *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2016/02/28/magazine/managed-by-gs-good-jobs-gamble.html? r=0

Deloitte & HRPA (nd). The lost decade, unsustainable prosperity or the northern tiger? CanadaWorks 2025. Deloitte & HRPA.

Drucker, P. F. (2002, February). They're not employees, they're people. Harvard Business Review, 70-77.

duRivage, V. L. (2000). CWA's organizing strategies: Transforming contract work into union jobs. In F. Carre, M. A. Ferber, L. Golden & S. Herzenberg (Eds.), *Nonstandard work: The nature and challenges of changing employment arrangements* (pp. 377-391). Champaign, IL: Industrial Relations Research Association.

Eichler, L. (2015, June 5). The dark side of on-demand work. *The Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/careers/career-advice/life-at-work/the-dark-side-of-on-demand-work/article24822808/

Eisler, R., Dolan, S., Raich, M. (2013, November 7). Leading towards change of ethics and caring: resisting temptation and reaping the benefits. The European Business Review. http://www.europeanbusinessreview.com/leading-towards-change-of-ethics-and-caring-resisting-temptation-and-reaping-the-benefits/

Ellingson, J. E., Grays, M. L., & Sackett, P. R. (1998). Factors related to the satisfaction and performance of temporary employees. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83, 913-921.

Erickson, T. (2012). The rise of the new contract worker. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2012/09/the-rise-of-the-new-contract-worker

European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Tourism Trade Unions. (2013). 10 Key Points to Fight Precarious Work in Food, Agriculture and Tourism. Retrieved from http://www.precariouswork.eu/en/facts

Feldman, D. C, Doerpinghaus, H. I., & Turnley, W. H. (1994). Managing temporary workers: A permanent HRM challenge. *Organizational Dynamics*, 23, 49-63.

Felfe, J., Schmook, R., Schyns, B., & Six, B. (2008). Does the form of employment make a difference?—Commitment of traditional, temporary, and self-employed workers. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 72, 81-94.

Fram, C. (Unpublished manuscript). Precarious employment and productivity: a literature review.

Galt, V. (2015, March 20). The growing call for temps at the top. *The Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/careers/career-advice/the-growing-call-for-temps-at-the-top/article23560130/

Galt, V. (2016, March 25). New world of health coverage opening up for small and microbusinesses. *The Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-businesses/careers/the-future-of-work/new-world-of-health-coverage-opening-up-for-small-and-micro-businesses/article29394329/

Galup, S., Suanders, C, Nelson, R. E., & Cerveny, R. (1997). The use of temporary staff and managers in a local government environment. *Communication Research*, 24, 698-730.

Gilbert, M. (2012, December 21). Why flexibility should be your HR priority in 2013. The Financial Post. http://business.financialpost.com/entrepreneur/why-flexibility-should-be-your-hr-priority-in-2013

GLA Economics. (nd) An independent study of the business benefits of implementing a Living Wage

policy in London. Mayor of London.

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla migrate files destination/archives/mayor-economic_unit-docs-living-wage-benefits-summary.pdf

Gold, R. (2015, April 30). 3 Questions to ask about your just-in-time workforce. PROFIT Business Cast & Bennett Gold LLP Chartered Accountants. http://www.profitguide.com/businesscast/3-questions-to-ask-about-your-just-in-time-workforce-81133

Gory, C. (2016, April 1). Most employees vastly underestimate their total compensation. *The Globe and Mail.* http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/small-business/talent/most-employees-vastly-underestimate-their-total-compensation/article29381779/

Grabell, M. (2013, June 27). The expendables: how the temps who power corporate giants are getting crushed. ProPublica and Time. https://www.propublica.org/article/the-expendables-how-the-temps-who-power-corporate-giants-are-getting-crushe

Grant, T. (2011, June 2). With temporary workers, flexibility's the name of the game. *The Globe and Mail.* http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/economy/jobs/with-temporary-workers-flexibilitys-the-name-of-the-game/article583174/

Grant, T. (2014, October 4). The 15-hour workweek: Canada's part-time problem. *The Globe and Mail.* http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/the-15-hour-workweek-canadas-part-time-problem/article20926986/

Greenhouse, S. (2012, October 27). A part-time life, as hours shrink and shift. *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2012/10/28/business/a-part-time-life-as-hours-shrink-and-shift-for-american-workers.html

Greenhouse, S. (2014, August 31). The changing face of temporary employment. *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2014/09/01/upshot/the-changing-face-of-temporary-employment.html

Habib, M. (2015, November 5). Chopping employee pay or benefits cuts both ways. *The Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/chopping-employee-pay-or-benefits-cancut-both-ways/article27099775/

Hanratty, T. (2000). The impact of numerical flexibility on training for quality in the Irish manufacturing sector. *Journal of European Industrial Training*, 24, 505-512.

Hatton, E. (2013, January 26). The rise of the permanent temp economy. *The New York Times*. http://opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com/2013/01/26/the-rise-of-the-permanent-temp-economy/

HRM Canada (2012a, May 30). Reign in drug-plan costs with simple solutions. HRM Canada.

HRM Canada (2012b, December 12). Temporary workers for the long-term. HRM Canada.

HRPA (2015, September 12). Your dream candidate may be the temp right in front of you. HRPA. http://www.hrpatoday.ca/article/your-dream-candidate-may-be-the-temp-right-in-front-of-you.html

Huston, E. & Young, M. (2013). Managing the total workforce: bringing contingent labor inside the strategic workforce planning tent. The Conference Board of Canada.

Immen, W. (2011, May 17). Boxed in: The stifling effects of short-term contracts. *The Globe and Mail.* http://www.theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/careers/career-advice/boxed-in-the-stifling-effects-of-short-term-contracts/article580315/

Investors in people (2015, October 19). The long term cost of short term thinking. Investors in people.

Johns, T. & Gratton, L. (2013, January-February). The third wave of virtual work. *Harvard Business Review*, 66-73.

Kalleberg, A. L. (2000). Nonstandard employment relations: Part-time, temporary and contract work. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *26*, 341-365.

Kantor, J. (2014a, August 13). Anything but 9 to 5: Scheduling technology leaves low-income parents with hours of chaos. *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2014/08/13/us/starbucks-workers-scheduling-hours.html

Kantor, J. (2014b, August 14). Starbucks to revise policies to end irregular schedules for its 130,000 baristas. *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2014/08/15/us/starbucks-to-revise-work-scheduling-policies.html

Kay, J. (2014a). Working paper 4: How to provide leave benefits. PEPSO. https://pepsouwt.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/pepso-wp-6-leave-benefits-2014-05.pdf

Kay, J. (2014b). Working paper 13: How to provide more opportunities for training. https://pepsouwt.files.wordpress.com/2014/08/pepso-wp-13-training-2014-05.pdf

Kenexa High Performance Institute (2011). Engagement levels in global decline: organization's losing a competitive advantage. Kenexa High Performance Institute. http://www.hreonline.com/pdfs/02012012Extra KenexaReport.pdf

Kim, S. (2014, January 23). 11 Companies offering health care benefits to part-time workers. http://abcnews.go.com/Business/top-11-companies-offering-health-care-benefits-perks/story?id=21625982#10

KPMG (2014). Precarious Employment: The Employers' Perspective. KPMG. http://pepso.ca/documents/kpmg-uw-report-precarious-employment-may-2014.pdf

KPMG & United Way Toronto & York Region. (2017, July 6). Better Business Outcomes Through Workforce Security: A Business Case Framework. KPMG & United Way Toronto & York Region. https://www.unitedwaytyr.com/file/what-we-do---research-reports-document-upload-part/Workforce-Security-Business-Case-Framework-.pdf

Lambert, S. & Henly, J. (2009, May). Scheduling in hourly jobs: promising practices for the twenty-first century economy. The Mobility Agenda.

Lambert, S. (2014). Stability is good for employees and bosses. New York Times. http://www.nytimes.com/roomfordebate/2014/07/23/new-rules-for-part-time-work/stability-is-good-for-employees-and-bosses

Lautsch, B. A. (2002). Uncovering and explaining variance in the features and outcomes of contingent work. *Industrial & Labor Relations Review*, *56*, 23-43.

Law Commission of Ontario (2012). Vulnerable Workers and Precarious Work: Interim Report. Law Commission of Ontario. http://www.lco-cdo.org/en/vulnerable-workers-interim-report

Lawrence, J. (1997, February). Involving temporary workers in process improvement activities. *Quality Progress*, 30, 74-77.

Lewchuk, W., Clarke, M. & de Wolff, A. (2011). Working without Commitments: The Health Effects of Precarious Employment. Montreal and Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.

Living wage Canada (2013). What is a living wage. http://www.livingwagecanada.ca/index.php/about-living-wage/what/

Lowe, G. (2007, September 4). What workers want: It's Time to Raise the Bar. The Globe and Mail.

Lowe, G. & Graves, F. (2016). Redesigning work: a blueprint for Canada's future well-being and prosperity. University of Toronto Press, Scholarly Publishing Division.

Maitland, A. & Thomson, P. (2014). The TRUST Principles: how to embrace the new world of work. *The European Business Review*. http://www.europeanbusinessreview.com/trust-principles-embrace-world-work/

Mathieu, J. E., & Zajac, D. M. (1990). A review and meta-analysis of the antecedents, correlates, and consequences of organizational commitment. *Psychological Bulletin*, 180, 171–194.

McLean Parks, J., Kidder, D. L., & Gallagher, D. G. (1998). Fitting square pegs into round holes: Mapping the domain of contingent work arrangements onto the psychological contract. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 19, 697-730.

MetLife (2016). Opportunity is knocking: how benefits lay the groundwork for a thriving workplace. MetLife.

Mojtehedzadeh, S. (2015, August 22). Loblaws rings in better scheduling for part-time workers. https://www.thestar.com/news/gta/2015/08/22/loblaws-rings-in-better-scheduling-for-part-time-workers.html

Nobes, C. (2012). The true cost of sick leave: \$3.4 million? HRM Canada. http://www.hrmonline.ca/hr-news/the-true-cost-of-sick-leave-3-4-million-123728.aspx

Nollen, S. D., & Axel, H. (1996). Managing contingent workers: How to reap the benefits and reduce the risks. New York: AMACOM.

OECD (2016). Glossary of Statistical Terms: Productivity. OECD. https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=2167

Ontario Ministry of Labour. (2008). Leaves of Absence: Pregnancy, Parental, Personal Emergency, Family Medical & Reservist. http://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/es/pubs/brochures/br leaves.php

Ontario Ministry of Labour. (2009). Personal Emergency Leave. http://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/es/pubs/quide/emergency.php

Ontario Ministry of Labour (2013). Pregnancy and Parental Leave. http://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/es/pubs/guide/pregnancy.php

Ontario Ministry of Labour (2016a). Your employment standards rights: temporary help agency assignment employees. https://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/es/pubs/is_tha.php

Ontario Ministry of Labour (2016b). Vacation. https://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/es/pubs/guide/vacation.php

PEPSO (2013). It's More than Poverty: Employment Precarity and Household Wellbeing. United Way Toronto & McMaster University. http://www.unitedwaytyr.com/document.doc?id=91

PEPSO (2015). The Precarity Penalty: the impact of employment precarity on individuals, households and communities – and what to do about it. United Way Toronto & McMaster University. http://www.unitedwaytyr.com/document.doc?id=307

Pichler, S. & Zeibarth, N. (2015). The Pros and Cons of Sick Pay Schemes: Testing for Contagious Presenteeism and Shirking Behavior. Bonn, Germany: Institute for the Study of Labor. http://ftp.iza.org/dp8850.pdf

Pichler, S. & Zeibarth, N. (2016). Labor Market Effects of US Sick Pay Mandates. Bonn, Germany: Institute for the Study of Labor. http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2769175

Pryma, K. (2002, August 22). Organizations explore benefits of pooling workers. IT World Canada. http://www.itworldcanada.com/article/organizations-explore-benefits-of-pooling-workers/26353

Quinton, S. (2013, March 25). The Trader Joe's lesson: how to pay a living wage and still make money in retail.

Reich, M., Hall, P. and Jacobs, K. (2005). Living wage policies at the San Francisco airport: Impacts on workers and businesses. Industrial Relations, 44, 106-38. http://irle.berkeley.edu/files/2003/Living-Wage-Policies-at-San-Francisco-Airport.pdf

The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, R. (2012). Taking the high road: a how-to guide for successful restaurant employers. New York, NY: The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United.

Rich, M. (2010, December 19). Weighing costs, companies hire temporary help. *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2010/12/20/business/economy/20temp.html

Sanofi Canada (2015). The Sanofi Canada healthcare survey 2015: Benefits 2020: shifting gears toward health management. Sanofi Canada.

Smithers, J. W. (1995). Creating an internal contingent workforce: Managing the resource link. In M. London (Ed.), *Employees, careers, and job creation: Developing growth-oriented human resource strategies and programs* (pp. 142-164). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Society for Human Resource Management & U.S. Travel Association (2013). SHRM Survey Findings: Vacation's Impact on the Workplace. Society for Human Resource Management & U.S. Travel Association. https://www.shrm.org/hr-today/trends-and-forecasting/research-and-surveys/Pages/shrm-us-travel-vacation-benefits.aspx

Statistics Canada. (2014). Employment, by enterprise size, by province and territory (Ontario). Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/labr77g-eng.htm

Statistics Canada. (2017). Table 282-0012: Labour Force Survey Estimates (LFS), employment by class of worker, North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) and sex, annual (persons). Statistics Canada.

Stewart, N. (2015). Benefits benchmarking 2015. The Conference Board of Canada.

Stickney, L. T. (2008). Contingent workers and competitive position: the effect of contingent worker use on organizational performance. Temple University.

Stiglitz, J. (2012). The Price of Inequality: How Today's Divided Society Endangers Our Future. New York, USA: W.W. Norton & Company Ltd.

Stone, B. (2010, January 20). CrowdFlower Raises \$5 Million to Boost Crowdsourcing. *The New York Times*. http://bits.blogs.nytimes.com/2010/01/20/crowdflower-raises-five-million-to-boost-crowdsourcing/

Stone, B. (2013). Costco CEO Craig Jelinek leads the cheapest, happiest company in the world. Bloomberg. http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2013-06-06/costco-ceo-craig-jelinek-leads-the-cheapest-happiest-company-in-the-world

Swanberg, J., James, J., McKechnie, S. (nd). Can business benefit by providing workplace flexibility to hourly workers? Issue Brief no. 3.

Swart, M. (2011). Maximizing the value of a contingent workforce. Employment Relations Today, 53-60.

Taylor, P. S. (2015, June). Why temporary work is good for employers and employees alike. Canadian Business. http://www.profitguide.com/manage-grow/human-resources/why-temporary-work-is-good-for-employees-alike-82580

Thakur, B. (2016). The overlooked benefits of mandatory paid sick leave. The Staffing Stream: The Voices of the Staffing Industry. http://www.thestaffingstream.com/2016/01/29/the-overlooked-benefits-of-mandatory-paid-sick-leave/

Ton, Z. (2014). The Good Jobs Strategy: How the Smartest Companies Invest in Employees to Lower Costs & Boost Profits. MIT Sloan School of Management.

Towers Perrin (2008). Closing the engagement gap: a road map for driving superior business performance. Towers Perrin global workforce study. Towers Perrin. http://www.eadion.com/site/uploads/Towers Perrin Study.pdf

University of California, Riverside. (2016). Flextime: non-exempt & exempt employees. https://hr.ucr.edu/worklife/professional/flextime_schedule_quideline.html

UPS (2016). Benefits. UPS. https://www.jobs-ups.com/benefits

Vosko, L., MacDonald, M. and Campbell, I., eds. (2009). Gender and the Contours of Precarious Employment. London: Routledge.

Watkins, M. (2013). What is organizational culture? And why should we care? *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2013/05/what-is-organizational-culture

Watson, L. & Swanberg, J. (2010). Flexible workplace solutions for low-wage hourly workers: a framework for a national conversation. Workplace flexibility 2010 & The Institute for Workplace Innovation (iwin).

WFD Consulting (2009). Innovative workplace flexibility options for hourly workers. Corporate Voices for Working Families.

Woo, A. (2014). Documents reveal CBSA expected scrutiny for contracting out security. The Globe and

Mail. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/british-columbia/documents-reveal-cbsa-expected-scrutiny-for-contracting-out-security/article21530607/

Zeytinoglu, I., Chowhan, J., Cooke, G. B. & Mann, S. (2016). An ill-informed choice: empirical evidence of the link between employers' part-time or temporary employment strategies and workplace performance in Canada. The International Journal of Human Resource Management.

11. Endnotes

Affairs, 2016.

```
<sup>1</sup> PEPSO, 2013; PEPSO, 2015.
<sup>2</sup> Ibid.
<sup>3</sup> Statistics Canada in PEPSO, 2015; Vosko et al. 2009 in PEPSO, 2015.
<sup>4</sup> PEPSO, 2013; PEPSO 2015.
<sup>5</sup> Ibid.
<sup>6</sup> Stiglitz, 2012; Alexander & Fong, 2014.
<sup>7</sup> KPMG, 2014.
<sup>8</sup> Ton, 2014.
<sup>9</sup> Ton, 2014; Davidson, 2016; Beaton, 2012.
<sup>10</sup> Ibid.
<sup>11</sup> KPMG, 2014
<sup>12</sup> KPMG & United Way Toronto & York Region, 2017.
<sup>13</sup> City of Toronto, 2015; Statistics Canada, 2017.
<sup>14</sup> CERS, 2012.
<sup>15</sup> Ellingson, Gruys & Sackett, 1998.
<sup>16</sup> Towers Perrin, 2008; Darr & Koller, 2017; Lowe & Graves, 2016.
<sup>17</sup> Towers Perrin, 2008.
<sup>18</sup> Kenexa, 2011.
<sup>19</sup> Mathieu & Zajac, 1990 in Felfe et al., 2008.
<sup>20</sup> Cohen, 2003 in Felfe, 2008; Meyer et al., 2002 in Felfe et al., 2008.
<sup>21</sup> Ton, 2014.
<sup>22</sup> OECD, 2016.
<sup>23</sup> Fram, 2015.
<sup>24</sup> Watkins, 2013.
<sup>25</sup> Becker & Smidt, 2014.
<sup>26</sup> Lawrence, 1997.
<sup>27</sup> Carrick, 2014; Galt, 2015; Grant, 2014; Grabell, 2013; Johns & Gratton, 2013.
<sup>28</sup> Eichler, 2015; Cukier, 2015.
<sup>29</sup> Kantor, 2014a.
<sup>30</sup> Gilbert, 2012.
<sup>31</sup> buyingTEAM, 2011.
<sup>32</sup> HRPA, 2015; KPMG, 2014.
<sup>33</sup> Gold, 2015; Grant, 2011; KPMG, 2014.
<sup>34</sup> Immen, 2011; Rich, 2010; Gilbert, 2012; Carrick, 2014; Cukier, 2015; KPMG, 2014; Stone, 2010;
Greenhouse, 2012; Taylor, 2015; Hatton, 2013; Grabell, 2013.
<sup>35</sup> PEPSO, 2013; PEPSO, 2015.
<sup>36</sup> KPMG, 2014; Immen, 2011.
<sup>37</sup> Grant, 2011; Galt, 2015.
<sup>38</sup> Grant, 2011.
<sup>39</sup> Galt, 2015; Cukier, 2015; KPMG, 2014; Grabell, 2013; Bloomberg Bureau of National Affairs, 2016.
<sup>40</sup> Taylor, 2015; KPMG, 2014.
<sup>41</sup> Grant, 2014, Gold, 2015, Rich, 2010; HRM, 2012a; Drucker, 2002; Bloomberg Bureau of National
```

- ⁴² Grabell, 2013; Cukier, 2015; Grant, 2014; Gilbert, 2012; KPMG, 2014.
- ⁴³ Grabell, 2013; KPMG, 2014.
- ⁴⁴ KPMG, 2014.
- ⁴⁵ Zeytinoglu et al., 2016.
- ⁴⁶ Chan, 2015; Grant, 2014.
- ⁴⁷ Drucker, 2002.
- ⁴⁸ Grant, 2014; Lowe, 2007; Woo, 2014; Greenhouse, 2014; PEPSO, 2013; PEPSO, 2015; Lewchuk et al., 2011.
- ⁴⁹ Chan, 2015.
- ⁵⁰ Bloomberg Bureau of National Affairs, 2016.
- ⁵¹ Becker & Smidt, 2014.
- ⁵² Bloomberg, 2016a.
- ⁵³ Ibid.
- ⁵⁴ Becker and Smidt, 2014.
- ⁵⁵ Ton, 2014; Erickson, 2012.
- ⁵⁶ Habib, 2015.
- ⁵⁷ Becker and Smidt, 2014.
- ⁵⁸ Stone, 2013; Grant, 2014; Deloitte & HRPA, nd.
- ⁵⁹ Grant, 2014.
- ⁶⁰ Bloomberg Bureau of National Affairs, 2016; Becker and Smidt, 2014.
- ⁶¹ Kalleberg, 2000 in Stickney, 2008.
- ⁶² Stickney, 2008.
- ⁶³ Allan & Sienko, 1997; Feldman, Doerpinghaus & Turnley, 1994 in Stickney, 2008; Nollen & Axel, 1996 in Stickney, 2008.
- 64 Ibid.
- ⁶⁵ Quinton, 2013.
- 66 PEPSO, 2013; PEPSO, 2015.
- ⁶⁷ Living wage Canada, 2013.
- ⁶⁸ Cascio, 2006; Reich et al., 2005; GLA Economics, nd.
- ⁶⁹ Canada Revenue Agency, 2015.
- ⁷⁰ Ibid.
- ⁷¹ Ibid.
- ⁷² KPMG, 2014.
- ⁷³ PEPSO, 2015.
- ⁷⁴ Stewart, 2015.
- ⁷⁵ Ibid.
- ⁷⁶ Burson-Marsteller et al., 2016.
- ⁷⁷ KPMG, 2014.
- ⁷⁸ WFD Consulting, 2009; KPMG, 2014.
- ⁷⁹ UPS, 2016; Kim, 2014.
- 80 Aerotek, 2016.
- ⁸¹ Kim, 2014.
- 82 Arthurs, 2006; Law Commission of Ontario, 2012.
- 83 Lewchuk, Clarke & De Wolff, 2011.
- ⁸⁴ Eisler et al., 2013.
- 85 HRM, 2012b.
- 86 The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, 2012.
- ⁸⁷ Gory, 2016.
- ⁸⁸ Attfield, 2015; Benz, 2009; Galt, 2016; MetLife, 2016; The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, 2012.
- ⁸⁹ Burson-Marsteller et al., 2016.
- ⁹⁰ Sanofi, 2015.

- ⁹¹ MetLife, 2016; Stone, 2013; Benz, 2009; HRM, 2012b.
- ⁹² Eisler et al., 2013.
- 93 The Conference Board of Canada, 2012.
- 94 Ibid.
- ⁹⁵ PEPSO, 2015.
- ⁹⁶ Burson-Marsteller et al., 2016.
- ⁹⁷ Kay, 2014a.
- ⁹⁸ Ontario Ministry of Labour, 2013; Ontario Ministry of Labour, 2008; Ontario Ministry of Labour, 2009.
- 99 Ontario Ministry of Labour, 2016a.
- ¹⁰⁰ Statistics Canada 2014.
- ¹⁰¹ Ontario Ministry of Labour, 2016b.
- ¹⁰² Pichler & Zeibarth, 2015.
- ¹⁰³ Bernier et al., 2003.
- ¹⁰⁴ The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, 2012.
- 105 Ibid.
- ¹⁰⁶ Nobes, 2012.
- ¹⁰⁷ WFD Consulting, 2009.
- ¹⁰⁸ Ibid.
- ¹⁰⁹ Lewchuk, Clarke & De Wolff, 2011.
- ¹¹⁰ Applebaum et al., 2014.
- ¹¹¹ The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, 2012.
- ¹¹² The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, 2012; Applebaum et al., 2014.
- ¹¹³ Thakur, 2016.
- ¹¹⁴ Applebaum et al., 2014.
- ¹¹⁵ Pichler & Zeibarth, 2015.
- ¹¹⁶ Applebaum et al., 2014; Society for Human Resource Management & U.S. Travel Association, 2013.
- ¹¹⁷ Society for Human Resource Management & U.S. Travel Association, 2013.
- ¹¹⁸ Ibid.
- ¹¹⁹ Applebaum et al.; 2014.
- ¹²⁰ The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, 2012.
- 121 Ibid.
- ¹²² PEPSO, 2013; PEPSO, 2015.
- ¹²³ PEPSO, 2015.
- ¹²⁴ Ibid.
- ¹²⁵ Ibid.
- ¹²⁶ Kantor, 2014b.
- ¹²⁷ Mojtehedzadeh, 2015.
- ¹²⁸ Lambert & Henley, 2009.
- ¹²⁹ WFD Consulting, 2009.
- ¹³⁰ Ibid.
- ¹³¹ Eisler et al., 2013.
- ¹³² Ibid.
- ¹³³ Community Foundations of Canada, 2016.
- ¹³⁴ WFD Consulting, 2009.
- ¹³⁵ Ibid.
- ¹³⁶ Maitland & Thomson, 2014; Swanberg et al., nd.
- ¹³⁷ Maitland & Thomson, 2014.
- ¹³⁸ Maitland & Thomson, 2014; Swanberg et al., nd.
- ¹³⁹ Maitland & Thomson, 2014.
- ¹⁴⁰ University of California Riverside, 2016.
- 141 Swanberg et al., nd; WFD Consulting, 2009
- ¹⁴² WFD Consulting, 2009.

```
<sup>143</sup> Ibid.
<sup>144</sup> Ibid.
<sup>145</sup> Ibid.
<sup>146</sup> Watson & Swanberg, 2010.
<sup>147</sup> WFD Consulting, 2009.
<sup>148</sup> Lambert and Henly, 2009; Swanberg et al., nd.
<sup>149</sup> WFD Consulting, 2009.
<sup>150</sup> Ibid.
<sup>151</sup> WFD Consulting, 2009; Swanberg et al., nd.
<sup>152</sup> Swanberg et al., nd.
<sup>153</sup> Ibid.
<sup>154</sup> Ben-Ishai, 2015; Watson & Swanberg, 2010.
<sup>156</sup> Lambert and Henley, 2009.
<sup>157</sup> Watson & Swanberg, 2010.
<sup>158</sup> Ibid.
<sup>159</sup> WFD Consulting, 2009.
<sup>160</sup> Watson & Swanberg, 2010.
<sup>161</sup> Ibid.
<sup>162</sup> Ibid.
<sup>163</sup> Watson & Swanberg, 2010; Ben-Ishai, 2015; Lambert, 2014.
<sup>164</sup> Stickney, 2008.
<sup>165</sup> Watson & Swanberg, 2010; Stickney, 2008.
<sup>166</sup> Stickney, 2008.
<sup>167</sup> Stickney, 2008; Smithers, 1995 in Stickney, 2008; Axel, 1995 in Stickney, 2008.
<sup>168</sup> Stickney, 2008.
<sup>169</sup> Ben-Ishai, 2015; Watson & Swanberg, 2010.
<sup>170</sup> Ben-Ishai, 2015.
<sup>171</sup> Ton, 2014.
<sup>172</sup> Ibid.
<sup>173</sup> Ibid.
<sup>174</sup> Stickney, 2008.
<sup>175</sup> Ibid.
<sup>176</sup> Ben-Ishai, 2014.
<sup>177</sup> Ibid.
<sup>178</sup> Pryma, 2002.
<sup>179</sup> McLean Parks et al., 1998 in Stickney, 2008.
<sup>180</sup> Ibid.
<sup>181</sup> Stickney, 2008.
<sup>182</sup> Huston & Young, 2013.
<sup>183</sup> PEPSO, 2015
<sup>184</sup> KPMG, 2014.
<sup>185</sup> Huston & Young, 2013.
<sup>186</sup> Swart, 2011.
<sup>187</sup> Galup et al., 1997 in Stickney, 2008.
<sup>188</sup> Lautsch, 2002 in Stickney, 2008.
<sup>189</sup> Capperella, 2011.
<sup>190</sup> Ibid.
<sup>191</sup> Watson & Swanberg, 2010.
<sup>192</sup> KPMG, 2014.
<sup>193</sup> Capperella, 2011; Swart, 2011.
<sup>194</sup> Kay, 2014b.
```

- ¹⁹⁵ PEPSO, 2015.
- duRivage, 2000 in Stickney, 2008; Hanratty, 2000 in Stickney, 2008.
 Nollen & Axel, 1996 in Stickney, 2008; Stickney, 2008.
- ¹⁹⁸ PEPSO 2013; PEPSO 2015.
- ¹⁹⁹ Stickney, 2008.
- ²⁰⁰ Investors in People, 2015b.
- ²⁰¹ Watson & Swanberg, 2010; Ton, 2014.
- ²⁰² Ton, 2014.
- ²⁰³ Stickney, 2008.
- ²⁰⁴ Stickney, 2008; European Federation of Food, Agriculture and Toursim Trade Unions, 2013.
- ²⁰⁵ The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United & Batt, 2012; Chambel & Sobral, 2011; Swanberg et al., nd; Becker & Smidt, 2014; Ton, 2014.
- ²⁰⁶ Stone, 2013.
- ²⁰⁷ KPMG & United Way Toronto & York Region, 2017.